D+7 w/app

FILED SID J. WHITE
SID J. WHITE ///07
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 80,435

FRANK R. BRANCA,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF MIRAMAR,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BRUCE ROGOW
Florida Bar No. 067999
BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A.
2441 S.W. 28th Avenue
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33312
(305) 767-8909
and
BEVERLY A. POHL
Florida Bar No. 907250
Suite 200
350 Southeast Second St.
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301
(305) 767-8909

Counsel for Petitioner

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Petition seeks review of an August 12, 1992 decision by the Fourth District Court of Appeal (Appendix A), affirming a final judgment for the plaintiff City of Miramar, and certifying a question to this Court pertaining to the Florida Constitution:

WHETHER ARTICLE X, SECTION 14, AND THE REQUIREMENTS THEREOF APPLY ONLY TO EXISTING COUNTY OR MUNICIPAL PENSION PLANS, OR WHETHER THE REQUIREMENTS ALSO APPLY TO COUNTY OR MUNICIPAL PENSION PLANS THAT INCREASE OTHER EXISTING GOVERNMENTAL [i.e., STATE] PENSION PLAN BENEFITS.

The court below did not rule on the constitutional question, but certified it for consideration by this Court. (Appendix A, p.6,8).

The case began as a declaratory judgment action brought by the City of Miramar, seeking to declare its own pension ordinance invalid. The suit named as defendants the former Mayor of Miramar, Petitioner Frank R. Branca (the only vested and retired beneficiary under the ordinance), and the current Mayor and two City Commissioners, who had contributed funds to the pension program but whose benefits had not vested. The other "defendants" were represented by counsel, but presented no evidence and no arguments at the trial.

Following a non-jury trial, the court ruled that Miramar

The Fourth District Court of Appeal also affirmed the trial court's award of attorney's fees and costs to Branca under the common law principle providing for fees for public officials who are forced to defend a suit arising out of their official duties. Thornber v. City of Ft. Walton Beach, 568 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1990). The City has not sought review of that decision.

Ordinance 88-16 (Appendix B)<sup>2</sup> was unconstitutional under the Florida Constitution, Article X, § 14, and invalid under Chapter 112, Part VII, Florida Statutes (Actuarial Soundness of Retirement Systems). (Appendix D--trial court ruling). Thus, the City was relieved of its obligation to pay pension benefits under the ordinance. Branca appealed, leading to the certified question from the Fourth District Court of Appeal.<sup>3</sup>

Ordinance 88-16 was amended on November 21, 1988, by Ordinance 89-12, which provided for a buy-back for time spent in military service. Reference in this Brief to Ordinance 88-16 will actually be to 88-16 as amended by 89-12. (Appendix C).

A third-party complaint filed by Branca against Kruse, O'Connor and Ling, Inc., the actuarial firm employed by the City in conjunction with the creation of the disputed pension ordinance, is being held in abeyance until appellate review of the main case is final. In a recently-filed independent action, the City has also sued Kruse, O'Connor and Ling, Inc. and its employee actuary Stephen Palmquist for professional negligence, seeking to recover the attorneys fees owed by the City to Branca for his defense of this case. City of Miramar v. Kruse, O'Connor & Ling, No. 92-23046, 17th Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida. A motion to have the two cases against the actuarial firm consolidated is pending in the trial court.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### Introduction

On April 4, 1988 the City Commission of the City of Miramar enacted Ordinance 88-16 which created a retirement system for elected officials pursuant to § 112.048(3), Fla. Stat.<sup>4</sup> Under the ordinance, an elected official retiring after twenty years would receive annually 50% of his or her average annual salary for the preceding five years; earlier retirement reduced the pension benefits.

One year later, on April 3, 1989, then-Mayor Frank Branca announced his retirement from office as an elected official, and on May 1, 1989 he began receiving retirement benefits under Ordinance

Section 112.048 provides in pertinent part:

<sup>(1)</sup> The intent of the Legislature is to authorize and direct each city and town to provide a system of retirement for elected officials, but it is further the intent that each city or town may determine whether the system will be contributory or noncontributory.

<sup>(3)</sup> Each city or town may by ordinance establish a contributory retirement system for those officials defined in subsection (2). The rules for participation, the amount of the official's contributions, and the method of appropriation and payment may be determined by ordinance of the city or town.

Subsection (2) defines a mandatory state retirement system for elected officials who have held office for twenty consecutive years. Mayor Branca would have met that criterion had he completed his present term and been elected to another term, and served at least two years. (TrI-174, II-225; see Appendix A, p.5 n.5 where the court below found that Branca's possible re-election and eventual entitlement to the state pension "would be speculative.")

88-16, of \$1854.17 per month. (TrI-26, 37; TrII-209).

The pension for elected officials was a political issue in Miramar, with at least one candidate for City Commission, Dan Lewis, campaigning for its repeal. (TrI-25,38). A new City Commission was elected in 1988, and one month after Branca retired, on May 15, 1989, that Commission repealed 88-16 by enacting Ordinance 89-30, at the request of Commissioner Dan Lewis (R330-331). As a vested beneficiary, Branca's monthly benefits continued, but the new City officials directed that the payments come from a budget item entitled "disputed benefits payable." (TrI-26). The dispute ripened into this lawsuit, filed by the City on October 11, 1989. (R305).

## Miramar Ordinance 88-16

The idea of an exclusive retirement system for elected officials in Miramar arose in 1987. (TrI-166). Mayor Branca asked the City Finance Director, Jack Neustadt, to investigate pension plans in other municipalities for comparison purposes. (TrI-20).5

Neustadt had held the position of Finance Director since 1981, and served under three mayors. (TrI-17). His responsibilities included all the financial affairs of the City, including retirement benefits, and he considered himself personally

The court below correctly found that "the ordinance was requested by the administration, which at that time was under [Branca's] direction." (Appendix A, p.2). The record is clear, however, that the pension plan was initiated, developed, reviewed and passed pursuant to the City's ordinary course of business, and was not the result of any wrongdoing on the part of Mayor Branca. See, Statement of the Facts, infra p.7.

knowledgeable in such matters. (TrI-17,18). In contrast, Mayor Branca had no personal expertise in the area of pension benefits, and relied on the advise of experts, both department heads and outside consultants. (TrII-221-222). Neustadt determined that the Florida cities of Coral Springs and Plantation had retirement plans for elected officials, (TrI-20), and provided copies of those plans to the Mayor and to the City Attorney, Annette Lustgarten. (TrI-21). After some discussion at a senior staff meeting, and after researching the legal requirements and discussing the actuarial requirements with the City's consultant, the City Attorney drafted what became 88-16. (TrI-142,144,146).

The City engaged J. Stephen Palmquist, an actuary from the actuarial consulting firm of Kruse, O'Connor and Ling, Inc., to assist in the development of a pension plan for elected officials. (TrI-166). That firm's primary business involves creating and maintaining approximately 250 retirement programs for various cities and business corporations. Palmquist himself had been an actuary in Florida for nineteen years. (TrI-161,162). He obtained his actuarial training in 1970, and is a member of the Society of Actuaries, the American Academy of Actuaries, and the Conference of Actuaries in Public Practice. (TrI-162).

Kruse, O'Connor and Ling, Inc. performed actuarial services for Miramar with respect to three other retirement plans for various employees, with Palmquist handling all the Miramar business. (TrI-163). Through that association, Neustadt held Palmquist in high regard as an actuary. (TrI-28). Thus, when Mayor

Branca instructed the Finance Director to engage an actuary to render pension advice, Neustadt contacted Palmquist. (TrI-22,27,164). Neustadt's testimony was clear that he would not have consulted Stephen Palmquist had he not believed him to be a professional and competent actuary for the City's needs. (TrI-28).

Kruse, O'Connor and Ling, Inc. had been involved in setting up similar pensions for elected officials in other cities, including the City of Plantation's plan which had been provided to the Miramar City Attorney as a model (TrI-20,164). Palmquist understood the importance of his role in Miramar:

Q (BY MR. ROGOW) You were hired to provide advice with regard to an ordinance that would be a legal ordinance; correct?

A With regard to the design of the benefits to go into the ordinance, yes.

Q In fact, you would not have recommended something that you believed to be invalid or unconstitutional or illegal under any applicable law?

## A That's correct.

(TrI-167). Thus, although Mayor Branca did not personally select Palmquist, he was satisfied with Neustadt's choice, because in Branca's opinion Palmquist had an "excellent reputation." (TrII-219-220).

Palmquist, as consulting actuary, was included in several meetings with Miramar officials, and pursuant to his recommendations certain changes were made to the initial drafts. (TrI-166-168). In his professional opinion the final draft fully

complied with the statutory and constitutional requirements for pension plans (TrI-170).

Ordinance 88-16 was enacted in conformance with Miramar's standard procedure for new legislation. (TrI-36,37, II-222-224). The first draft was presented to the City Commission at a public hearing, attended by Palmquist and Annette Lustgarten, after which certain amendments were made by the City Attorney. (TrI-144,145, 171). There were public "workshop discussions," at which city staff members presented information to the governing body, without action being taken. (TrI-145, II-224). A second public reading was also held at a Commission meeting, as required, before a vote was taken and the Commission passed the ordinance four-to-one. (TrI-148; Appendix B, p.5). Mayor Branca did not vote on the ordinance,

## Section 112.625(1)(b) provides:

(emphasis supplied).

The court below rejected Palmquist's view, and found "substantial competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Ordinance 88-16 did not constitute a deferred compensation plan." (Appendix A, p.6 n.6).

Specifically, Palmquist believed that the ordinance was <a href="mailto:exempt">exempt</a> from certain funding requirements of Chapter 112, Part VII, Fla. Stat., because it fell within an exemption, § 112.625(1)(b) (TrI-195).

<sup>(1) &</sup>quot;Retirement system or plan" means any employee pension benefit plan supported in whole or in part by public funds, provided such plan is not:

<sup>(</sup>b) A plan which is unfunded and is maintained by an employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees;

because under the City charter the Mayor votes only if there is a tie vote in the Commission, or if he chooses to exercise a veto. (TrI-148).

## Mayor Branca's Retirement

Frank Branca, holder of a doctorate degree and professor of psychology at Broward Community College, (TrI-49), had been a resident of the City of Miramar since 1961, and active in local politics since 1971, when, at age 37, he began by volunteering to work on a political campaign committee. (TrII-207-209). In 1973, he was elected to the City Council; after re-election in 1977 and 1981, he ran for mayor in 1983 and captured 52% of the vote from a field of six or seven candidates. (TrII-209-210). In 1987, he was re-elected with 75% voter approval. (TrII-211). As Miramar grew, Mayor Branca's duties there grew, and from 1985-1989 he took a leave of absence from his professional duties at Broward Community College in order to devote more time to the City as its full-time Mayor and chief executive. (TrI-51, II-213-215).

As the work of his public office grew with the City, Frank Branca endured personal pressures as well with the protracted illness of his wife, and her death due to cancer in 1986. (TrII-

The City will correctly point out that Branca is a member of a state retirement system as a result of his tenure at Broward Community College. Those benefits would become available to him after thirty years of service, after nine more years of teaching, or when he reaches age 62, in 1995. (TrI-52). However, any expectation of retirement benefits under the state plan is irrelevant to the legality of Ordinance 88-16 or the equities involved in this dispute between the City of Miramar and Mr. Branca.

216). In 1988, after Ordinance 88-16 was passed, he began to think seriously about retiring from office. (TrII-225). He was apprehensive about working with the newly elected City Commission:

The commission that was seated at that time was a commission that I felt was going to bring the city back to the circus that it once was and I just did not feel that I wanted to participate in that.

(TrII-226). The immediate availability of pension benefits under 88-16 made retirement attractive, and in anticipation he sought to put his personal financial affairs in order, including liquidating assets from his deceased wife's antique shop and other properties:

Q What was the purpose of beginning to turn these properties into cash?

A Because I was retiring and wanted to get out of managing and businesses and whatever. I wanted to put the money to work for me. So along with the interest income I could have the city pension check and for awhile the college salary and then the college pension check and I could live on that very nicely.

(TrII-227-228). Branca planned to resume teaching after his retirement from elected office, which would leave his summers free for travelling. (TrII-203). He also had financial obligations that were to be met by his pension. His son, Paul, had applied to medical school. Paul Branca was accepted at the University of Miami School of Medicine in February of 1989, for the following September, and anticipated \$31,000-\$35,000 per year in expenses. (TrI-6,10). Branca had promised to supplement Paul's school loans

with the Miramar pension check, and in fact did so until the expenses of this litigation forced him to discontinue that assistance to his son. (TrI-6,7).

Although, before retiring, Mayor Branca discussed his pension with Jack Neustadt, the possibility that the pension benefits were in jeopardy because of any infirmity or illegality of Ordinance 88-16 was never mentioned. (TrI-38). The following colloquy demonstrates the Finance Director's position:

Q I'm asking whether or not at some time before then [date of retirement] the mayor discussed with you whether or not his pension benefits were in order? This pension plan was passed in 1988 and he didn't retire until 1989.

A We had discussions about the pension but I do not recall that the mayor asked me about the status of his rights under the pension. I believe that that was assumed.

Q And you assumed that he had those pension rights?

A I had no reason not to.

Q You had no reason not to because the actuary had said it was all right; correct?

A On the basis that it was adopted by the commission.

Q And the city attorney had said it was all right?

A Yes, sir.

(TrI-38).

Additionally, the testimony of former City Attorney

Annette Lustgarten made it clear that the City as well as Branca

presumed that his City pension would be available:

Q So you were satisfied that ordinance 88-16 passed constitutional and statutory muster in terms of your duties as a city attorney?

#### A Yes.

Q And based upon your experience as a city attorney, and a [former] county attorney, you had no reluctance in putting your stamp of legal approval on the ordinance, 88-16, as re-drafted?

#### A Correct.

Q And your decision to do that was based upon your own research and the work of the City hired actuary, Stephen Palmquist?

#### A Correct.

Q And you relayed to Mayor Branca your belief that this ordinance was a valid, legal and constitutional ordinance?

#### A Correct.

Q Mayor Branca relayed to you the fact that when he retired he was counting upon this pension as part of his retirement plan?

A He did.

(TrI-152-153).

## The Contested Validity of Ordinance 88-16

The "facts" adduced at trial regarding the City's challenge to the validity of its Ordinance 88-16 came from the testimony of Stanley Danek, Division Attorney for the Florida Division of Retirement in Tallahassee, (TrI-53); and from the

City's expert witness Frederick Mabry, a consulting actuary from Atlanta, Georgia, whose area of expertise was limited by the trial court to whether or not Ordinance 88-16 created a deferred compensation plan. (TrI-79,100) See footnote 6, supra. A summary of their testimony frames the City's position.

The Division of Retirement reviews municipal pension plans upon request, for compliance with statutory funding requirements according to actuarial principles. (TrI-54). After Branca's retirement, and at the City's request, Danek provided a legal memorandum concerning Ordinance 88-16, dated August 22, 1989, to the City on behalf of the Division. His memorandum raised the issue of 88-16's unconstitutionality, and concluded that the ordinance did not fall within the § 112.625(1)(b) exemption to Ch. 112, Part VII, and therefore lacked proper funding requirements as dictated in the statute. (R334-338; Appendix A, p.3).

In Danek's opinion, this was not a deferred compensation plan as required under §112.625(1)(b), and those covered under the ordinance were not "employees." (TrI-55-58) He admitted that the Division has no guidelines as to what is considered a "highly compensated" position. (TrI-77).

With regard to the state constitutional question, Danek said the Division's "interpretation" was that the creation of a new pension plan did constitute an "increase" in benefits such that

Art. X, § 148 of the Florida Constitution applied, and that Ordinance 88-16 was not in compliance. (TrI-65).

Frederick Mabry's testimony was similar—that Ordinance 88-16 was not actuarially sound; that it did not fall within the \$ 112.625(1)(b) exemption because 1) the pension applied to the City Commissioners, who are not highly paid and may not be management, and 2) does not provide for "deferred compensation" as he understands it. (TrI-86-90). While Mabry agreed on cross-examination that deferred compensation could reflect something other than a diversion of dollars by the employee (TrI-106), he opined that Ordinance 88-16 was not deferred compensation for purposes of the exemption:

I don't consider this a deferred compensation plan. A deferred compensation plan to me is a plan whereby an employee agrees to forgo some current payment that would otherwise be made in exchange for a further payment later on.

Under as I understand Florida law, that's covered under 112.215. It's called Deferred Compensation Act or

## Article X, Section 14 provides:

A governmental unit responsible for any retirement or pension system supported in whole or in part by public funds shall not after January 1, 1977, provide any <u>increase</u> in the benefits to the members or beneficiaries of such system unless such unit has made or concurrently makes provision for the funding of the <u>increase</u> in <u>benefits</u> on a sound actuarial basis. (emphasis supplied).

The trial court found that as full-time Mayor, Frank Branca was "management." (TrI-104).

something like that.

(TrI-102).

The district court of appeal agreed with the City on the statutory exemption and apparently affirmed the trial court on the constitutional issue. But the court wrote:

The trial court found, and certainly an argument can be made, that the creation and establishment of a retirement plan for Miramar elected officials under Ordinance 88-16 was an increase in benefits as contemplated in Article X, Section 14, because no such pension benefits existed for elected officials prior to the enactment of Ordinance 88-16 apart from those mandated in section 112.048, Florida Statutes.

\* \* \*

[W]e need not resolve the issue of whether the Ordinance's enactment constituted an "increase" in benefits under Article X, Section 14, Florida Constitution.

(Appendix A, p. 5,6).

This Petition seeks (1) resolution of that constitutional issue, as well as review of Petitioner's arguments which were rejected by the district court of appeal; (2) the City's lack of standing to sue to invalidate its own ordinance, and (3) Branca's entitlement to a pension under equitable principles (if the Ordinance is found to be unconstitutional).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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