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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### Jurisdiction

Branca argues that this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction because the Fourth District a) construed a provision of the state constitution; or b) because it certified a question to the Supreme Court. Art. V, §§ 3(b)(3) and (4). However, neither argument confers jurisdiction on this Court given the facts of this case or the Decision.

First, the Fourth District never actually "construed" a provision of the state constitution so as to confer jurisdiction upon this Court. This Court's exercise of jurisdiction is contingent upon the Fourth District's actually construing, rather than applying, the language of the particular constitutional provision at issue. Since neither the trial court nor the appellate court actually construed the constitutional provisions of Article X, Section 14, this Court should refrain from exercising its discretionary jurisdiction.

Second, jurisdiction is inappropriate because the Fourth District never "passed upon" the question certified to this Court. The provisions of Article V which confer discretionary jurisdiction upon this Court to review decisions which certify questions of public importance to this Court are applicable solely in those instances where the district court of appeal in question has actually "passed upon" the question which was certified. As Branca

- 11 -

himself has acknowledged, the Fourth District specifically refrained from deciding the certified question. In fact, the record reflects that an adequate basis existed for the Fourth District to rule as it did without resolving the certified question. Therefore, this Court should not exercise jurisdiction to entertain this case on the merits.

#### Unconstitutionality of the Ordinance

The Ordinance is unconstitutional because, contrary to Article X, Section 14, it provides for a municipal pension plan which is not actuarially sound. Branca does not challenge the Ordinance's lack of fiscal soundness. Instead, he argues that the Ordinance should still be enforced because either the Ordinance is not controlled by the state constitution, or because the City has no right to challenge the unconstitutional status of the Ordinance.

Branca urges an unreasonable and inequitable interpretation of the state constitution in order to exempt the Ordinance from its requirements. Branca argues that Article X, Section 14 should be interpreted to require that only an increase in benefits from a pre-existing plan must be actuarially sound, while any <u>new</u> pension system is permitted to be actuarially unsound. This is an absurd interpretation of the constitutional provision which would permit all government pension plans created after January 1, 1977 to avoid funding on a sound actuarial basis. In effect, only increases to old plans would be fiscally sound while new plans could unreasonably burden future taxpayers in direct contradiction to the

- 12 -

language and purpose of Section 112.61, Fla.Stat., which describes the legislative intent of Article X, Section 14. This Court has repeatedly held that statutes and constitutional provisions will not be interpreted in such a manner as to achieve an absurd or meaningless result, or one which is illegal or against public policy.

Consequently, this Court must answer the certified question by concluding, as did the trial court and Fourth District before it, that, even in the absence of pre-existing pension benefits, the implementation of a new pension system constitutes an "increase in benefits" as provided in Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution.

Even if, however, this Court requires the pre-existence of a city or other governmental pension plan in order to apply Article X, Section 14 to the Ordinance, such a plan did exist. Section 112.048, Fla.Stat., specifically provides that a city must provide a system of retirement benefits for elected officials who have served for twenty years or more consecutively. This particular section imposes upon the city, not the state, the obligation to fund a retirement program for elected officials. Since the Ordinance "increases" such a pension benefit, Article X, Section 14 applies. Whether Branca, by his actions, chose not to attempt to become vested under this pre-existing system is irrelevant to the determination of whether or not retirement benefits existed under Article X, Section 14. Branca's attempt to circumvent this issue by attributing the pension obligation created by § 112.048,

- 13 -

Fla.Stat., to the state is incorrect and contradicted by the clear language of the statute.

As a result, this Court must affirm the trial court's findings regardless of how the certified question is answered. Section 112.048, Fla.Stat., mandates a city-funded pension plan for elected officials. The Ordinance provided an increase in those benefits.

#### <u>Standing</u>

Caselaw supports the use of declaratory judgments to determine the constitutionality of ordinances and proposed ordinances. In addition, legal and ethical principles support the City's standing to seek a declaratory judgment regarding the validity of its own pension ordinance. By seeking declaratory relief, the City attempted to defend and protect its citizens from improper, illegal and substantial expenditures of public funds. No other course of action proposed by Branca would have addressed the constitutional infirmities of the Ordinance.

#### **Estoppel**

Estoppel is inappropriate under these facts since the application of estoppel would achieve an illegal result and one which is contrary to public policy. Additionally, the alleged representations upon which Branca claims to have relied were those of law and not fact. Under both state and federal law, estoppel will not lie against a municipality under such circumstances.

#### - 14 -

As a result, the City respectfully requests that this Court deny jurisdiction of the Petition. Alternatively, the City urges this Court to answer the certified question by finding that Article X, Section 14 applies to the Ordinance and that the Ordinance is violative of the state constitution and Section 112.61, Fla. Stat. As a further alternative, the City respectfully requests that the court rule that Article X, Section 14 applies to all new government pension plans, regardless of the pre-existence of pension benefits at the time the new plan is instituted.

- 15 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### Introduction to Argument

Branca urges this Court to accept jurisdiction and rule that the citizens of the City must be forced to fund an actuarially unsound pension plan proposed by the City's mayor just prior to his retirement. Branca does not argue that the pension plan created by the Ordinance is actuarially sound. Instead, Branca seeks to defeat the City's right to challenge the constitutionality of the Ordinance. Branca also asks this Court to construe the state constitution so as to permit all new government pension plans to be actuarially unsound and to allow such plans to transfer to future taxpayers, in violation of Section 112.61, Fla.Stat., the costs of the plans which may reasonably be borne by current taxpayers.

Based upon the many legal and equitable considerations set forth in this brief, Branca's arguments must be rejected.

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD REFRAIN FROM EXERCISING ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE ORDINANCE.

Branca has asserted that this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction by virtue of the Fourth District's either (a) having construed a provision of the state constitution; or (b) having certified a question to the Supreme Court. Art. V, §§ 3(b)(3) and (4). However, neither argument confers jurisdiction upon this Court given the facts of this case and the Decision.

- 16 -

The relevant provisions of Article V which confer discretionary jurisdiction upon this Court state as follows:

b. Jurisdiction. - The Supreme Court:

(3) may review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly declares invalid a state statute, or expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution, or that expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers, or that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

(4) may review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public important, or that is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal.

Art. V, (b) (3) and (4).

Therefore, this Court can exercise its jurisdiction only if the Decision is found to "construe" a provision of the state constitution or if the Fourth District actually "passed upon" the question which was certified by it to be of great public importance. <u>Ogle v. Pepin</u>, 273 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1973); <u>Revitz v.</u> <u>Baya</u>, 355 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1977); <u>Duggan v. Tomlinson</u>, 174 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1965). Since neither circumstance exists, this Court should decline jurisdiction.

With respect to Branca's argument that this Court may exercise discretionary jurisdiction since the Fourth District interpreted a provision of the state constitution, such an exercise of jurisdiction is contingent upon the district court's actually construing, and not merely applying, a provision of the state constitution. Ogle, 273 So.2d at 392; see also, Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So.2d 407 (Fla. 1958). In determining whether a particular opinion "construes" a provision of the constitution, the court in Ogle stated that the decision must undertake:

> to explain, define or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision.

Ogle, 273 So.2d at 392.

The mere fact that the trial court and the Fourth District applied the language of Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution to the facts before it does not confer jurisdiction upon this Court. <u>Armstrong</u>, 106 So.2d at 409. In <u>Armstrong</u>, the court addressed the issue as follows:

> We come now to the alternative contention of the appellants that the final decree construed "a controlling provision of the Florida or federal constitution." The problem presented by the suggestion is not without difficulty. Our study of the decisions of courts of other under states operating very similar constitutional provisions leads us to the conclusion that in order to sustain the jurisdiction of this court under the quoted provision it is necessary that the final decree under assault actually construe, as distinguished from apply, a controlling provision of the Constitution. [Emphasis supplied]

Armstrong, 106 So.2d at 409. The court further noted:

It is not sufficient merely that the trial judge examine into the facts of a particular case and then apply a recognized, clear-cut provision of the Constitution.

- 18 -

In the Judgment, the trial court cites to the relevant provisions of Article X, Section 14 and finds as follows:

That the creation and establishment of a retirement plan for Miramar elected officials under Ordinance No. 88-16 was an increase in benefits under Art. X, sec. 14, Fla. Const. (1968), because no City of Miramar retirement benefits existed for elected officials prior to the enactment of Ordinance No. 88-16, which was enacted on April 4, 1988.

[App. D-2] The trial court does not attempt "to explain, define or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms" of Article X, Section 14. Quite the contrary, the trial court apparently applies the language forthrightly to the retirement benefits created by the Ordinance.

The Fourth District, in turn, does little more than adopt the trial court's findings:

The trial court found, and certainly an argument can be made, that the creation and establishment of a retirement plan for Miramar elected officials under Ordinance No. 88-16 was an increase in benefits as contemplated in Art. X, Sec. 14, because no such pension benefits existed for elected officials prior to the enactment of Ordinance 88-16 apart from those mandated in § 112.048, Fla.Stat. As such, Ordinance 88-16 would be subject to the requirements of Art. X, Sec. 14.

[App. A-5,6]. The Fourth District failed to conduct any analysis into the possible construction of the phrase "increase in benefits" other than adopting the trial court's findings which were based upon "substantial, competent evidence." There is no discussion in the Decision of the derivation of the language contained in Article

- 19 -

X, Section 14; no discussion of legislative intent; no discussion of possible definitional sources for the terms.

In short, the Fourth District, like the trial court before it, did no more than apply the language of the constitutional provision to the retirement benefits created by the Ordinance. Florida law clearly holds that "applying a constitutional provision is not synonymous with 'construing' that same provision for purposes of determining this court's jurisdiction." <u>Armstrong</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>see</u> <u>also</u>, <u>Rojas v. State</u>, 288 So.2d 234, <u>transferred to</u> 296 So.2d 627, <u>cert. den.</u> 419 U.S. 851 (1974). As a result, this Court should refrain from exercising its discretionary jurisdiction to review the Decision.

In addition, the Fourth District failed to "pass upon" the certified question and, as a result, jurisdiction should not be exercised based upon the existence of a certified question. In <u>Revitz</u>, this Court was presented with an appeal from a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which certified a question as being of great public importance, but failed to "pass upon" the question. In refusing to accept jurisdiction to consider the appeal, the court stated as follows:

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, provides, in pertinent part, that the Supreme Court "[m]ay review by certiorari any decision of a district court of appeal . . that <u>passes upon</u> a question certified by a district court of appeal to be of great public interest . . . " (emphasis supplied)

Since, sub judice, the district court specifically found it unnecessary to pass upon

- 20 -

the question now certified to this court, we are without jurisdiction to consider and decide the question. [footnote omitted]

<u>Revitz</u>, 355 So.2d at 1171.

As in <u>Revitz</u>, where the district court in its opinion specifically refrained from deciding the certified question, the Fourth District in this case similarly did not pass upon the certified question. After acknowledging that the proposed retirement benefits provided by the Ordinance would not constitute a deferred compensation plan, and before certifying its question with respect to "other" governmental pension benefits, the Fourth District noted as follows:

> Notwithstanding, we need not resolve the issue of whether the ordinance's enactment constituted an "increase in benefits" under Art. X, Sec. 14, Florida Constitution.

[App. A-6]

Branca himself has acknowledged that the Fourth District did not pass upon the question it certified as being of great public importance. There was sufficient evidence in the record to support a finding that the Ordinance constituted an increase in benefits since no other pension benefits existed other than those available under § 112.048, Fla.Stat.<sup>7</sup> As a result, the legal issue set forth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>/ The District Court focused on an independent finding that the Ordinance constituted an "increase in benefits":

The trial court found, and certainly an argument can be made, that the creation and establishment of a retirement plan for Miramar elected officials under Ordinance 88-16 was an increase in benefits as contemplated in Art.

in the certified question was not, and need not have been, decided by the Fourth District. Therefore, this Court lacks the requisite jurisdiction to consider and decide the certified question. <u>Revitz</u>, 355 So.2d at 1171.

#### II. THE ONLY REASONABLE INTERPRETATION OF THE PHRASE "INCREASE IN BENEFITS" MANDATES THAT THE SYSTEM ESTABLISHED BY THE ORDINANCE COMPLY WITH CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS THAT IT BE ACTUARIALLY SOUND.

Branca urges upon this Court a hyper-technical interpretation of Article X, Section 14 of the state constitution which would require that an increase in benefits from a pre-existing plan be actuarially sound, while allowing a new pension system to avoid similar actuarial requirements.<sup>8</sup> Such an interpretation is absurd

> X, § 14, because no such pension benefits existed for elected officials prior to the enactment of Ordinance 88-16 apart from those mandated in §112.048, Fla.Stat. [emphasis supplied]

[App-A-5,6].

<sup>6</sup>/ Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution mandates that any "increase in benefits" of publicly funded retirement programs be funded in a manner which is actuarially sound. More specifically, Article X, Section 14 states as follows:

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